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"Down Memory Lane" 
Irene Kratzer 

WHERE DID THE NAME 

CARDIFF -BY-THE-SEA 

COME FROM??? 

After the original Indian inhabitants, Cardiff and California were once part of 
Mexico, as was most of the southwest. Mexico was a colony of Spain at the time and 
the origin�l land grants were awarded to prominent Mexican families. At the south 
end of Cardiff, the slough was given the name "Alejo" as found on the land grant 

• map at the Heritage Museum, meaning "separate" (alejar), separating Cardiff from
the Lockwood Mesa to the south. After the arrival of the early American settlers,
such as the Mackinnons who settled here in 1875, J. Frank Cullen came from Boston
in 1910, and became our first developer/speculator. He prep·ared a map showing
central Cardiff divided up into lots priced at $30 each and corner lots for $45. The
city's original name was to be San Elijo, an Americanized version of Alejo with
"San" or "Saint'· added (Saint Separation?!) Mrs. Cullen, a native of Cardiff, Wales,
wisely vetoed that and renamed the City Cardiff, changing all the Spanish street
names to English, Scotch and Irish names, leaving only San Elijo Avenue and
Orinda Drive to retain their original names. Another developer, Victor Kremer, later
developed the "Composer District" to the north, naming streets after musicians and
composers.

This information originally appeared in the Beach News August 29, 1991 issue. 
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